THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal No. 2020-001679

RECEIVED

Jun 02 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Elizabeth McCrabb, Respondent,

v.

Christine Baxter,Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MCANGUS GOUDELOCK AND COURIE

Helen F. Hiser

735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200 (29464)

P.O. Box 650007

Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465

(843) 576-2900

helen.hiser@mgclaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant Christine Baxter

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO SHOW HER ALLEGED INJURIES WERE CAUSED BY THE 2017 ACCIDENT?

- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE THE COURT RELIED ON, IN PART, IS INADMISSIBLE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Christine Baxter, Defendant below (“Baxter” or “Defendant”), appeals from the Circuit Court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent Elizabeth McCrabb, Plaintiff below (“McCrabb” or “Plaintiff”). McCrabb filed a Summons and Complaint on October 24, 2019 in the Charleston County Circuit Court alleging that, on October 26, 2017, at approximately 7:30 in the evening, Baxter negligently rear-ended her vehicle at the intersection of SC-61 and St. Andrews Boulevard, causing McCrabb injuries. (Complaint, filed Oct. 24, 2019, R. pp. 13-17).

Baxter timely answered, denying McCrabb’s allegations and raising affirmative defenses. (Defendant Christine Baxter’s Answer to Plaintiff’s Complaint, filed Nov. 19, 2019, R. pp. 18-22). Baxter filed an Amended Answer on May 27, 2020, raising additional defenses. (Defendant Christine Baxter’s Amended Answer to Plaintiff’s Complaint, filed May 27, 2020, R. pp. 25-29).

McCrabb’s underinsured motorist carrier, Travelers, entered an appearance pursuant to S.C. Code 83-77-160, and denied the allegations in the Complaint. (Notice of Appearance and Conditional Answer (Underinsured Motorist), filed March 25, 2020, R. pp. 23-24).

McCrabb moved for summary judgment on May 26, 2020. (Notice of Motion and Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability, filed May 26, 2020, R. pp. 30-31). She later filed a Memorandum in Support. (Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability, filed June 10, 2020, R. pp. 32-36). Baxter filed an opposition. (Defendant’s Memorandum in

Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion of Summary Judgment, filed June 19, 2020, R. pp. 60-65).

Without holding any hearing, the Circuit Court granted McCrabb partial summary judgment in a Form 4 Order filed July 6, 2020, (Form 4 Order, filed July 6, 2020, R. pp. 10-12), followed by a written order filed July 13, 2020. (Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability, filed July 13, 2020, R. pp. 5-9) ("July 13 Order"). In the July 13 Order, the Court held that there was "no genuine dispute regarding the facts about how the collision took place," and noted that Baxter had testified under oath that she believed she was at fault in the collision and that she believed she was "responsible for the injuries that were caused to [Plaintiff] by that collision."

Baxter moved for reconsideration, (Motion to Reconsider the Grant of Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed July 15, 2020, R. pp. 66-67), and later filed a Memorandum in Support, (Defendant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Reconsideration, filed Nov. 4, 2020, R. pp. 68-72), in which Baxter argued, among other things, that McCrabb had not proven her injuries were proximately caused by any breach by Baxter and, as a result, summary judgment should not have been granted. In addition, Baxter asserted that the Court's ruling was based, in part, on inadmissible evidence that contained hearsay and/or legal conclusions by a lay witness. McCrabb opposed the motion.

The Court denied Defendant's Motion to Reconsider in a Form 4 Order, filed December 18, 2020. (R. pp. 2-4). Baxter timely appealed to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff alleged in her Complaint that she was injured in an automobile accident that occurred on October 27, 2017, at around 7:30 p.m. McCrabb alleges she was stopped at the intersection of SC-61 and St. Andrews Blvd, and that Baxter was traveling in the same direction and was behind McCrabb. Baxter's vehicle struck McCrabb's vehicle from behind, which McCrabb alleges caused her "to suffer severe and permanent injuries requiring extensive medical treatment, pain injections and long-term physical therapy." (Complaint, R. p. 15, ¶¶ 7-12).

Plaintiff submitted a "FR-10" form, filled out by Police Officer David J. Britten, with her Memorandum in Support that indicates Baxter contributed to the accident but that McCrabb did not. (R. pp. 38-39). Plaintiff also submitted photographs of vehicles involved in an accident. (R. pp. 40-47).

McCrabb served Requests to Admit on Baxter, seeking an admission or denial that: 1) Baxter "was solely at fault in the collision with Plaintiff Elizabeth McCrabb", 2) Baxter "rear-ended Plaintiff Elizabeth McCrabb's vehicle," and 3) "Plaintiff Elizabeth McCrabb is not liable in any way for the collision between Defendant's car and Plaintiff's car." Baxter denied all three Requests to Admit. (R. pp. 81-83). Following correspondence with Plaintiff's counsel, Defense counsel revised the response to Request to Admit No. 2 only, from "Denied" to "Admit," thereby admitting only that Baxter rear-ended McCrabb's vehicle. (R. pp. 86-88).

Baxter, who is a retired schoolteacher, was deposed on May 14, 2020. Baxter was asked if the collision was her fault, to which she responded, "Yes." (R. p. 50, lines 7-9). Baxter was asked whether she "believed" McCrabb "was at fault in any way for the

collision,” to which Baxter responded, “No.” (R. p. 50, lines 10-12). Plaintiff’s counsel then asked whether Baxter “believed that 100 percent of the fault in the collision belongs to you,” to which Defense counsel objected but Baxter ultimately answered, “Yes.” (R. p. 50, line 14 – p. 51, line 21).

Plaintiff’s counsel presented Baxter with responses to Plaintiff’s Requests to Admit, asking whether she personally had answered these on her own, to which Baxter responded, “No.” (R. p. 53, line 22 – p. 54 line 23). Plaintiff’s counsel then proposed that Baxter answer the Requests to Admit “as we’re sitting here in the deposition” and elicited responses that Baxter believed she was “solely at fault in the collision” with McCrabb, (R. p. 55, line 4 – p. 56, line 2), and that she rear-ended McCrabb’s vehicle, (R. p. 56, lines 13-16). When asked to “admit”¹ that McCrabb was not liable at in any way for the collision,” Baxter responded, “Well, to the best of my ability, she wasn’t.” (R. p. 56, lines 17-25). Not satisfied with Baxter’s response, Plaintiffs’ counsel asked the question multiple times until he elicited the response “I admit” from Baxter. (R. p. 57, lines 2-19).

Then Plaintiff’s counsel moved to McCrabb’s injuries. When asked point-blank “Do you believe that you are responsible for the injuries that were caused to Mrs. McCrabb by that collision,” over objection, Baxter responded, “Um, yes. Admit.” (R. p. 57, line 22 – p. 58, line 1). However, when asked what her understanding “if any” was of McCrabb’s injuries, Baxter responded, “Very little.” (R. p. 58, lines 2-4). Nonetheless, Plaintiff’s counsel proceeded to question Baxter about the extent and causation of

¹ Plaintiff’s counsel queried, “Do you know what the word ‘admit’ means?” and, “do you know what the word ‘deny’ means,” to which Baxter responded “Yes.” (R. p. 55, lines 15-21). However, there is no indication that Baxter understood the legal ramifications of responding to formal Requests to Admit.

McCrabb's alleged injuries, concluding with the question, "If Ms. McCrabb's headache condition was caused by the collision with your vehicle, do you accept responsibility for those injuries," which, again over objection, Baxter answered, "Yes." (R. p. 58, line 5 – p. 59, line 5) (emphasis added).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, a reviewing court "applies the same standard that governs the trial court. The appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant, the non-moving party below." *Madison v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2006).

ARGUMENTS

The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment to Plaintiff because she failed to meet her burden of demonstrating there are no material facts in dispute and because the Circuit Court relied, at least in part, on inadmissible evidence. Summary judgment is appropriate only "when 'the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.' Rule 56(c), SCRC." *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 378, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000). "Even when there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied." *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). "Summary judgment is a drastic remedy which should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed

factual issues.” *Madison*, 371 S.C. at 134, 638 S.E.2d at 655. In addition, “[s]ummary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 415, 401 S.E.2d 169, 171 (1991).

I. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment because Plaintiff failed to show her alleged injuries were caused by the 2017 accident.

Summary judgment was improper in this case for a number of reasons. First, summary judgment should have been denied because McCrabb, as the moving party, failed to meet her “burden of clearly establishing by the record properly before the Court the absence of a triable issue of fact.” *Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Marine Contr. & Towing Co.*, 301 S.C. 418, 422, 392 S.E.2d 460, 462 (1990). A moving party “who fails to show the absence of a genuine issue of material fact is not entitled to summary judgment even though [her] adversary does not come forward with opposing materials.” *Id.*; see also *Baird v. Charleston County*, 333 S.C. 519, 529, 511 S.E.2d 69, 74 (1999) (“In general, if the pleadings and evidentiary matter in support of summary judgment do not establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, summary judgment must be denied even if no opposing evidentiary matter is presented”); *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of S.C., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 366, 563 S.E.2d 331, 335-336 (2002) (moving party not entitled to summary judgment where it failed to demonstrate no genuine facts in dispute).

In order to prove her negligence claim, McCrabb bears the burden of proving three essential elements:

- (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff;
- (2) the defendant’s breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission, i.e. the failure to exercise care of a reasonable man in the circumstances; and
- (3) damage proximately resulting from the breach of duty.

Snow v. Columbia, 305 S.C. 544, 545, 409 S.E.2d 797, 798 (Ct. App. 1991). A plaintiff has the burden of proving each and every element. *Id.* at 556, 409 S.E.2d at 803. “If the plaintiff fails to prove any one of these elements, the action will fail.” *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 400, 477 S.E.2d 715, 720 (Ct. App. 1996). Here, even assuming, solely for the sake of argument, that McCrabb can prove duty and breach, she cannot prove her alleged injuries were caused by any breach of duty attributable to Baxter. She has put forward no evidence on causation other than Baxter’s equivocal and uninformed deposition testimony.

In other words, summary judgment should have been denied because McCrabb failed to present any probative or reliable evidence that the accident caused her alleged injuries. “Negligence is not actionable unless it proximately causes the plaintiff’s injury.” *Madison*, 371 S.C. at 146, 638 S.E.2d at 662. “It is apodictic that a plaintiff may only recover for injuries proximately caused by the defendant’s negligence.” *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 345 S.C. 484, 491, 548 S.E.2d 605, 609 (Ct. App. 2001). Indeed, “[w]ith regard to *liability* for a negligent act, proximate cause is the efficient, or direct, cause – the thing which brings about the injuries complained of. [citation omitted] Negligence is not actionable *unless* it is a proximate cause of the injuries, and it may be deemed a proximate cause *only* when without such negligence the injury would not have occurred or could have been avoided.” *Hughes v. Children’s Clinic, P.A.*, 269 S.C. 389, 398, 237 S.E.2d 753, 757 (1977) (emphases added); *see also Hanselmann v. McCardle*, 275 S.C. 46, 49, 267 S.E.2d 531, 533 (1980) (“A plaintiff must plead and *prove* not only that he has been injured and the defendant’s fault, but also the causal connection between

the two”). Patently, a key part of the liability phase of any case is establishing whether the defendant proximately caused the plaintiff’s injuries.

In order to establish proximate cause, a plaintiff must “provide evidence that [defendant’s] breach of duty ... was a cause in fact of the damages and was a legal cause.” *Winthrop Univ. Trs. v. Pickens Roofing & Sheet Metals, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 142, 163, 791 S.E.2d 152, 163 (Ct. App. 2016). “Causation in fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred ‘but for’ the defendant’s negligence.” *Whitlaw v. Kroger Co.*, 306 S.C. 51, 410 S.E.2d 251, 253 (1991), quoting *Bramlette v. Charter Medical-Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 72, 393 S.E.2d 914, 916 (1990). “Legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability.” *Whitlaw*, 306 S.C. 51, 410 S.E.2d 251. “The standard by which foreseeability is determined is that of looking to the ‘natural and probable consequences’ of the complained of act.” *Young v. Tide Craft, Inc.*, 270 S.C. 453, 462, 242 S.E.2d 671, 675 (1978).

Here, McCrabb has provided absolutely no probative or reliable evidence that her alleged injuries are causally related to the October 26, 2017 accident and/or by any action or inaction on Baxter’s part. The only evidence submitted by McCrabb was Baxter’s equivocal and uninformed agreement to the hypothetical posed by Plaintiff’s counsel, that “if Ms. McCrabb’s headache condition was caused by the collision,” she would “accept responsibility for those injuries.” (R. p. 58, line 2 – p. 59, line 5) (emphasis added). There simply is no evidence—just Plaintiff’s counsel’s suggestion—that McCrabb’s alleged injuries were *in fact* caused by the 2017 accident. As a result, summary judgment was improper and the Circuit Court’s grant of same must be overturned.

Furthermore, preceding Plaintiff's counsel's inquiry as to proximate cause, Baxter testified that she had "[v]ery little" understanding of what Plaintiff's injuries were. (R. p. 58, lines 2-4). Nonetheless, Plaintiff's counsel proceeded to question Baxter about the extent and causation of McCrabb's alleged injuries, which Baxter answered to the best of her ability as a lay person. This equivocal and uninformed testimony is woefully inadequate to establish that any action or inaction on the part of Baxter proximately caused McCrabb's alleged injuries. See *Richardson's Rests. v. Nat'l Bank of S.C.*, 304 S.C. 289, 296, 403 S.E.2d 669, 673 (Ct. App. 1991) (judgment reversed where plaintiff "failed to prove it was damaged by any act or omission of" defendant, because "[t]here is no liability if there is no actual damage. It is elementary law that there is no such thing as 'negligence in the air'").

In addition, "[t]he question of proximate cause is ordinarily a question of fact for determination by the jury. [citation omitted] Only in rare or exceptional cases may the question of proximate cause be decided as a matter of law." *Ballou v. Sigma Nu Gen'l Frat.*, 291 S.C. 140, 147, 352 S.E.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1986); *Vinson*, 324 S.C. at 402, 477 S.E.2d at 721 ("Ordinarily, the question of proximate cause is one of fact for the jury"). And, while the issue of proximate cause normally is determined based on the "particular facts and circumstances of each case," *Ballou*, 291 S.C. at 147, 352 S.E.2d at 493, the case of *Vinson v. Hartley* is instructive. There, the defendant's vehicle struck the plaintiff's vehicle as the defendant was making a U-turn. The plaintiff, who did not need an ambulance, left the scene.² The plaintiff in *Vinson*, like McCrabb here, alleged

² Although Plaintiff's Complaint asserts that she was "transported by Charleston County EMS to St. Francis Hospital Emergency Department," (Complaint, R. p. 15, ¶ 11), she testified at her deposition that the EMT "suggested that if I were to go, if I could go in my

injuries from the accident related to conditions for which he had received extensive prior treatment, but submitted no medical records from the accident to support that claim. 324 S.C. at 396-397, 477 S.E.2d 715 at 719. More specifically, while the plaintiff claimed dental injuries from the accident and presented evidence of a cracked partial, he did not prove that any of those injuries were caused by the automobile accident. Consequently, the jury found in favor of the defendant, a determination this Court upheld on appeal. In the instant case, McCrabb has presented absolutely no evidence that her alleged injuries were caused by the 2017 automobile accident but, instead, her medical history shows that McCrabb has been treated for her alleged injuries over a long period of time pre-dating the accident.

II. The Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment because the evidence the court relied on, in part, is inadmissible.

In addition, summary judgment was improper because the evidence relied on, in part, by the Circuit Court is inadmissible as both containing hearsay and a lay person's legal conclusions. First, the July 13 Order relies on the police "collision report" and "police records," containing hearsay. In *South Carolina DMV v. McCarson*, 391 S.C. 136, 705 S.E.2d 425 (2011), the Supreme Court held that an investigating officer's impressions "as conveyed through ... [an] Incident Report constituted quintessential hearsay." 391 S.C. at 146, 705 S.E.2d at 430. Concomitantly, S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-1290 provides that "[n]one of the reports required by Sections 56-5-1260 to 56-5-1280 may be evidence of the negligence or due care of either party at the trial of any action at law to recover damages," although "law enforcement officers may refer to these reports

own car, it would be less expensive, so that's what we did." While Plaintiff's deposition transcript is not in the record, she can hardly deny she testified thusly.

when testifying in order to refresh their recollection of events.” Section 56-5-1270 covers written reports of certain motor vehicle accidents by law enforcement officers. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-1270. Thus, the orders at issue here rely, at least in part, on inadmissible hearsay and must be reversed.

Second, the Circuit Court’s grant of summary judgment is improper because it relies, as evidence of liability, on statements made by Baxter that are plainly legal conclusions elicited by Plaintiff’s counsel. Any agreement by Baxter, who is a retired schoolteacher, that the collision was solely her fault, (R. p. 50, lines 7-9), is a legal conclusion that she is not qualified to make. Similarly, her other opinions, regarding degrees of fault and proximate cause, (R. p. 50, lines 10-12; p. 51, lines 17-21; p. 55, line 7 – p. 57, line 19; p. 58, line 2 – p. 59, line 5), cross the line between factual admissions and legal conclusions. While Plaintiff’s counsel elicited responses from Baxter that she understood what the terms “admit” and “deny” mean in lay terms, (R. p. 55, lines 15-21), there is no indication that Baxter understood the legal ramifications of responding to formal Requests to Admit. Pursuant to Rule 36(b), SCRC, “[a]ny matter admitted under this rule is conclusively established unless the court on motion permits withdrawal or amendment of the admission.” The very purpose of requests for admission is to determine certain matters and thereby limit the issues needed to be addressed at trial. “An answer to a request under Rule 36 is unlike a statement of fact by a witness made in the course of oral evidence at a trial, or in oral pre-trial depositions, or even in written answers to interrogatories. *It is on the contrary a studied response, made under sanctions against easy denials, to a request to assert the truth or falsity of a relevant fact point out by the request for admission ...*” *Airco Indus. Gases, Inc. Div. of BOC Group, Inc. v*

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