RECEIVED
Apr 21 2021
SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appeal No. 2020-001679

Elizabeth McCrabb, PlaintiffRespondent,

v.

Christine Baxter, Defendant.....Appellant.

INITIAL RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

W. Mullins McLeod, Jr.
Michael T. Cooper
McLeod Law Group, LLC
3 Morris Street, Suite A (29403)
PO Box 21624
Charleston, South Carolina 29413
(843) 277-6655
Attorneys for Respondent

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

Issue Preservation

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733-34 (1998); *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Tranp.*, 361, S.C. 9, 23-25, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004). “An objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector.” *Id.* South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the “plain error rule,” wherein the appellate court may review an error not raised below by the objector. *Dykema v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.C.*, 348 S.C. 549, 554, 560 S.E.2d 894, 896 (2002). “A motion to alter or amend the judgment shall be served

not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.” Rule 59(e), SCRCPP. “A party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not.” *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products*, 386 S.C. 13, 31, 686, 699 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (finding issue raised for first time in Rule 59, SCRCPP, motion is not preserved for review); *Kiawah Prop. Owners Grp. v. Public Serv. Comm’n.*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004) (stating an issue raised for first time in petition for rehearing not preserved); *Stevens & Wilkinson of South Carolina, Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 566-67, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014) (finding City failed to preserve issue when raised for first time in Rule 59 (e) motion to amend judgment after trial court granted partial summary judgment in favor of plaintiff).

I. The Present Appeal Should be Dismissed because Appellant Presents Issues on Appeal that Were Not Ruled Upon by the Trial Court

Because Appellant does not raise an issue ruled upon by the court below, Appellant’s present appeal should be dismissed or denied. The issue on appeal must have been presented to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733-34 (1998).

Appellant frames her appeal as if the trial court ruled upon questions about proximate cause and damages or that the trial court found “negligence” as a matter of law. However, the trial court did not make any such ruling. Respondent undeniably moved for partial summary judgment on the issue of liability. (Plf. Motion for Partial SJ; Plf. Memo in Support of Motion for Partial SJ). The relief sought by Respondent was for “an Order granting partial summary judgment as to the issue of liability in this case.” (Plf. Memo in Support of Motion for Partial SJ, p. 5). The trial court’s order grants partial summary judgment on the issue of liability, saying “Defendant is solely

liable for the injuries proximately caused and which Plaintiff may prove at the trial of this case.” (Order, July 13, 2020, p. 4). The trial court’s ruling is exactly in line with Rule 56(c) which says, “A summary judgment . . . may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC. The grant of summary judgment on liability does not implicate proximate cause or damages.² These are separate legal concepts. See e.g., *Lampley v. Hulon*, 432 S.C. 566, 570-71, 854 S.E.2d 489, 492 (Ct. App. 2021) (“Because the issue of property damage was allowed to go to trial and the jury found Lampley and the jury found Lampley and the deputy sheriff were equally responsible for the accident, we need not remand for a determination of liability. We remand the case for a determination on the amount of damages for bodily injury based on the jury’s finding of equal liability.”); e.g., *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 385-86, 534 S.E.2d 688, 695 (2000) (“In light of the undisputed fact that Creditor failed to give the required notice to Debtor, the trial judge erred in denying Debtor’s motion for partial summary judgment on liability in the Article 9 cause of action. We remand this case to the circuit court for a determination of the statutory damages . . .”); cf., *Trivelas v. South Carolina Dept. of Tranp.*, 348 S.C. 125, 132-37, 558 S.E.2d 271, 274-77 (Ct. App. 2001) (The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court’s ruling that “the driver of the DOT vehicle violated §§ 56-5-1560 and 56-5-1920, thus constituting negligence as a matter of law” because there was a factual issue whether the exception “when reduced speed is necessary for safe operation or in compliance with law” excused DOT’s conduct and there was a genuine factual dispute about which party was the proximate cause of the collision.); cf., *Ballou v. Sigma Nu General Fraternity*, 291

² If liability means proximate cause and damages, then what does it mean when defense counsel stands up at the beginning of trial and says, “We admit liability?” Does that end the whole thing? By admitting liability, does the defendant admit proximate cause and damages? Of course, the answer is no.

S.C. 140, 147-48, 352 S.E.2d 488, 493 (Ct. App. 1986) (The Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of defendant's JNOV motion that argued the proximate cause of plaintiff's death was "his own voluntary consumption of the alcohol and not the furnishing of it by Sigma Nu's active brother." "The jury was entitled to find that the purpose for which, the manner in which, and the extent to which the active brother furnished alcoholic liquors and beverages to [plaintiff] and the other pledges proximately caused [plaintiff's] death.").

If Appellant were confused about the effect of the trial court's order, the appropriate motion would have sought clarification of the order through Rule 59(e) or Rule 60(a). However, this is not what happened. Instead, Appellant chose to argue that in granting partial summary judgment on liability, the trial court somehow bound the jury on issues of proximate cause and damages. (Def. Motion to Reconsider). Or that proximate cause and damages are so integral to liability that Respondent had to prove proximate cause and damages before the court could grant summary judgment on liability. *Id.* Appellant's contentions are in clear contradiction with the plain language of Rule 56(c), which expressly allows the court to grant summary judgment on liability and present only the issue of damages to a jury. Rule 56(c), SCRCF. Because Appellant's appeal does not relate to any ruling the court in fact made, her appeal should be dismissed or denied.

II. The Trial Court's Grant of Partial Summary Judgment on Liability Should be Affirmed because There Is No Genuine Dispute of Material Fact

Because the only reasonable inference from the undisputed facts about the collision is that Appellant is liable for the injuries, if any, that Respondent may prove and that the jury may find, the trial court's order should be affirmed. The trial court's grant of partial summary judgment on liability was supported by the uncontroverted facts presented by Respondent. After Respondent proved that Appellant crashed her car into the back of Respondent's while stopped at a red light,

Appellant offered no evidence to contradict or question these facts. (Plf. Memo in Support of Partial SJ; Def. Memo in Opp.). The language of Rule 56(e) provides:

“When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate **shall** be entered against him.”

Rule 56(e), SCRCF (emphasis added). "Summary judgment can be granted when plain, palpable and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ." *Byerly v. Connor*, 415 S.E.2d 796, 799 (1992).

Respondent provided the photos of the damage to Respondent's car. (Exhibit 2, Plf. MIS of Motion). The photos show the back end of Respondent's Jeep SUV to be caved in. *Id.* Respondent provided photos of the damage to Appellant's car. (Exhibit 3, Plf. MIS of Motion). The photos show the front end of Appellant's Jeep SUV to be crushed. *Id.* Respondent provided sworn testimony from Appellant's deposition. (Exhibit 4, Plf. MIS of Motion). Appellant said, "yes," when she was asked, "was the collision with Ms. McCrabb your fault?" *Id.* p. 17, ll. 7-9. Respondent asked, "Do you believe that Ms. McCrabb was at fault in any way for the collision?" Appellant said, "no." *Id.* p. 17, ll. 10-12. Appellant agreed that she was a hundred percent at fault in the collision. *Id.* p. 18, ll. 17-21.

Respondent also provided the deposition testimony of Appellant's responses to the Requests for Admission served upon her. Appellant argues there is a genuine dispute of material fact in this case because Appellant's lawyers "took care" of the written responses in one instance and Appellant provided different responses under oath in the other. Appellant testified that she did not answer the written requests for admission. (Exhibit 4, p. 23, ll. 11-23). While Appellant's sworn testimony contradicts the responses provided by her lawyers, a lawyer cannot artificially manufacture a factual issue by responding to requests for admission in place of the client. It is not

the lawyer that answers these discovery requests, it is the party: “A party may serve upon any other **party** a written request for admission . . . of the application of law to fact . . .” Rule 36(a), SCRPC (emphasis added). Under the rule, the “matter is admitted unless . . . the **party** to whom the request is directed serves upon the party requesting the admission a written answer or objection addressed to the matter, signed by the party or his attorney . . .” Rule 36(a), SCRPC (emphasis added). “The written or electronic signature of an attorney or party constitutes a certificate by him that he has read the pleading, motion or other paper; that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief there is good ground to support; and that it is not interposed for delay.” Rule 11(a), SCRPC.

Appellant’s deposition testimony admissions took place after the written responses were returned to Respondent by Appellant’s counsel. Appellant cannot contradict herself in a way that creates a genuine dispute of material fact. Instead, Appellant’s deposition responses amend those provided earlier by her lawyers. After her deposition Appellant did not file any motion to amend her testimony or the admissions contained therein.

If Appellant believed she was incompetent to state whether she was at fault in the collision, as she now argues, or that Respondent’s written requests for admission were improper, Rule 36(a) allows a party to object to a request and provide the reason for that objection. Rule 36(a), SCRPC. Appellant did not raise an objection to any of Respondent’s requests for admission. (Plf. MIO to Def. Motion to Reconsider, Exhibits 1 &2).

Even if Appellant had raised a timely objection, the requests submitted by Respondent were proper. In *Scott v. Greenville Housing Authority*, the plaintiff served requests for admission that “asked [defendant] to admit that it was responsible and liable for all of [plaintiff’s] damages and that its conduct was the sole proximate cause of any and all damages he suffered.” *Scott v. Greenville Housing Authority*, 353 S.C. 639, 642, 579 S.E.2d 151, 152 (Ct. App. 2003). The

defendant argued that plaintiff would not be prejudiced by allowing amendment of its responses, “because the deemed admission of liability was at the crux of the case.” *Id.* at 642-43, 579 S.E.2d at 152. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing the defendant to amend the requests that went to the very heart of liability and proximate cause and that were deemed admitted by the defendant’s failure to respond. *Id.* at 645, 579 S.E.2d at 154.

The court in *Scott v. GHA*, identified the purpose and function of requests for admission:

Through such definition and limitation, admissions promote both efficiency and economy in resolving disputes. If a point is conceded, litigants need not expend effort in investigation concerning it nor incur expense in presenting evidence to prove it. Judicial administration is also aided. Admissions reduce the time required to try a case. Indeed, they often make summary judgment possible. Finally, admissions encourage litigants to evaluate realistically the hazards of trial, and thus tend to promote settlements.

Id. at 649, 579 S.E.2d at 156. The court also recognized that “admissions are not objectionable merely because they go to ultimate facts or other issues that must be proven by the plaintiff.” *Id.* (citing *Cereghino v. Boeing Co.*, 873 F.Supp. 398, 403 (D.Or. 1994) (“[A] request for admission under Rule 36, and a resultant admission, are not improper merely because they relate to an ultimate fact or prove dispositive of the entire case.”)). The court then reversed the “trial court’s finding that the ultimate issue could not be determined by the admission because it was “superfluous” to the pleadings” that denied liability. *Id.* Respondent’s request that Appellant admit fault in the collision was proper and supported by law.

Finally, Appellant did not present any evidence that would tend to contradict that which was offered by Respondent. (Def. MIO to Plf. Motion; Def. MIS to Motion to Reconsider). Appellant offers no contradictory evidence because there is none. Appellant cannot, in good faith, deny fault. Appellant crashed into Respondent’s car while stopped at a red light. The only reasonable conclusion is Appellant is liable for the injuries, if any, caused by the collision.

Because there is no dispute, only delay, the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment should be affirmed.

III. Appellant's Objection to Respondent's Use of the Collision Report Was Neither Timely Nor Ruled Upon So this Issue Is Not Preserved

Because Appellant only raised her objection to the inclusion of the police report in her Rule 59(e) motion to reconsider, this issue was not properly presented to the trial court and is not preserved for appeal. “[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733-34 (1998); *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361, S.C. 9, 23-25, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004). “A party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not.” *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products*, 386 S.C. 13, 31, 686, 699 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (finding issue raised for first time in Rule 59, SCRCPP, motion is not preserved for review)).

Respondent admittedly attached the wrong “collision report” to her memorandum in support of the motion for partial summary judgment. Respondent attached the FR-10 report instead of the TR-310 report. The TR-310 report contains a diagram of the collision and a brief narrative of what happened based upon the police officer's observations. The FR-10 does not. It only has information about insurance and who was deemed “contributing.” The FR-10 does not contain any useful information for the trial court. The TR-310 contains information that would be admissible even though the report itself is not. *See e.g., Ellison v. Pope*, 290 S.C. 100, 106-108, 348 S.E.2d 367, 371-72 (Ct. App. 1986).

When Appellant failed to raise this objection, that failure did not provide Respondent or the trial court with an opportunity to address the specific objection. Additionally, the trial court

did not issue a ruling on Appellant's objection set forth in her motion to reconsider. The court issued a Form 4 denying the motion to reconsider. The order did not address Appellant's objection. Because Appellant failed to raise a timely objection and because this issue was not ruled upon by the trial court, the issue is not preserved for review. And because South Carolina does not recognize the "plain error rule," Appellant's issue on this matter should be denied and dismissed.

Finally, Respondent met its burden of demonstrating there was no genuine issue of material fact on the question of liability without reference to the FR-10 collision report. Appellant failed to offer any evidence that would show otherwise. Because the report was immaterial to the trial court's ruling, the order granting partial summary judgment should be affirmed regardless of preservation.

CONCLUSION

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